047 HAZ

# In The Supreme Court of Florida

AUG ES 806

NO. 88,510

CLERK, SALE SALE STATE

GLEN MICHAEL CALDWELL

Petitioner,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

#### PETITIONER'S MERIT BRIEF

NANCY A. DANIELS
Public Defender
Second Judicial Circuit

JEAN R. WILSON Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 0801593

Leon County Courthouse Suite 401 301 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-2458

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Citations in this brief to designate record references are as follows:

- "R.\_" Record on Direct Appeal to this Court
- "T.\_" Transcript of Proceedings

All cited references will be followed by the relevant page number(s). All other citations will be self-explanatory or will otherwise be explained. Respondent, State of Florida, was the plaintiff in the trial court and the appellee in the district court, and will be referred to as the "state." Petitioner was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the district court, and will be referred to as "petitioner" or as the "defendant" or by name.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

#### 1. Introduction

The district court certified the following question to this Court regarding the application of this Court's decision in *Coney* v. State, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995):

DOES THE DECISION IN <u>CONEY V. STATE</u>, 653
So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1995), APPLY TO "PIPELINE
CASES," THAT IS, THOSE OF SIMILARLY SITUATED
DEFENDANTS WHOSE CASES WERE PENDING ON DIRECT
REVIEW OR NOT YET FINAL DURING THE TIME <u>CONEY</u>
WAS UNDER CONSIDERATION BUT PRIOR TO THE
ISSUANCE OF THE OPINION?

A notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction of this Court under Article V, Section 3(b)(4), Fla. Const., was filed July 16, 1996.

### 2. <u>History of Proceedings</u>

The state charged Glen Michael Caldwell with two counts of manslaughter and two counts of vehicular homicide (R-2). Mr. Caldwell's trial was held August 22 through 25, 1994 (T 601-602). Jury selection was held on August 22, 1994 (T-380). An Escambia County jury found Mr. Caldwell guilty as charged (R-71, T-597). The trial judge adjudicated Caldwell guilty and sentenced him only on the two counts of manslaughter (R 97-98). The trial court subsequently sentenced Mr. Caldwell to two consecutive 15 year terms for a total of 30 years in state prison (R-97-98).

Mr. Caldwell then filed a timely notice of appeal to the district court (R 120).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I — This is the issue which is before this Court as a certified question. Petitioner was not present at the site of selection when the jury was chosen and therefore was unable to participate in the selection of his jury. Petitioner's case is one of the so-called "pipeline cases," falling between the time of Coney's trial, yet before the decision was rendered in *Coney v State*, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995).

Equal protection under the law, as well as decisions of this and other courts, demands that Petitioner be granted the same relief as was granted Coney. This is true whether Coney is considered to be "new law" or not. At the very least, the law which preceded Coney, and upon which Coney was decided, mandates that Petitioner be granted the same relief.

In Coney, the state conceded that Coney's absence during for-cause challenging of the jury was error under Francis v.

State, but the error was held harmless. Here, the state is estopped from arguing that what occurred here — the same factual scenario — is not error.

Error has occurred, and it is not harmless, whether peremptory challenges were made or not. If they were made, they may not have been the ones Petitioner wanted. If they were not

made, he may have wanted them to have been — including possible backstrikes. This Court has no way to access the damage done to the Petitioner.

There is error, it is harmful, and as it is impossible to access the consequences, the harmful error is prejudicial. Thus, the answer to the certified question must be in the affirmative, and Petitioner should be granted a new trial.

#### ARGUMENT

#### *ISSUE I*

THE ACCUSED WAS INVOLUNTARILY ABSENT FROM THE SIDEBAR WHEN PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES WERE EXERCISED DURING THE THERE IS NO RECORD OF A CHALLENGING OF THE JURY. KNOWING AND VOLUNTARY WAIVER OF HIS PRESENCE. THERE IS NO RECORD THAT PETITIONER RATIFIED OR APPROVED THE PEREMPTORY STRIKES. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO MAKE ANY INOUIRY AS TO WHETHER PETITIONER'S ABSENCE WAS VOLUNTARY OR WHETHER HE APPROVED OR RATIFIED THE THE COURT FURTHER FAILED TO CERTIFY THAT PETITIONER'S ABSENCE WAS VOLUNTARY OR THAT HE RATIFIED THE PEREMPTORY STRIKES. THE INVOLUNTARY ABSENCE OF PETITIONER AT A CRITICAL STAGE OF TRIAL WAS A CLEAR VIOLATION OF RULE 3.180 AND A DENIAL OF DUE PROCESS UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS

The district court certified the following question to this Court:

DOES THE DECISION IN <u>CONEY V .STATE</u>, 653 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1995), APPLY TO "PIPELINE CASES," THAT IS, THOSE OF SIMILARLY SITUATED DEFENDANTS WHOSE CASES WERE PENDING ON DIRECT REVIEW OR NOT YET FINAL DURING THE TIME <u>CONEY</u> WAS UNDER CONSIDERATION BUT PRIOR TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE OPINION?

The First District Court of Appeal concluded that the holding of this Court in *Coney v. State*, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995), that a "defendant has a right to be physically present at the immediate site where pretrial juror challenges are exercised" does not apply retrospectively to pipeline cases. The district court did not reach or discuss the issue raised by petitioner that, notwithstanding the question of whether *Coney* applied in

his case, a new trial is necessary under this Court's decisions in Francis v. State, 413 So. 2d 1175 (Fla. 1982), and Turner v. State, 530 So. 2d 45 (Fla. 1987).

In addition to the question certified, Petitioner respectfully urges this Court to also unambiguously clarify whether it intended its holding in Coney that a "defendant has a right to be physically present at the immediate site where pretrial juror challenges are exercised" to be prospective only, or whether the Court's statement that its "ruling today clarifying this issue is prospective only" was meant to apply only to the remainder of the paragraph which follows the first sentence. In Coney, this Court said:

We conclude that the rule means just what it says: The defendant has a right to be physically present at the immediate site where pretrial juror challenges are exercised. See Francis v. State, 413 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 1982). Where this is impractical, such as where a bench conference is required, the defendant can waive this right and exercise constructive presence through counsel. In such a case, the court must certify through proper inquiry that the waiver is knowing, intelligent and voluntary. Alternatively, the defendant can ratify strikes made outside his presence by acquiescing in the strikes after they are made. State v. Melendez, 244 So.2d 137 (Fla. 1971). Again, the court must certify the defendant's approval of the strikes through proper inquiry. Our ruling today clarifying this issue is prospective only.

Id. at 1013.

Petitioner contends that whether or not *Coney* is a clarification of existing law or new law, it nonetheless must be applied to pipeline cases.<sup>1</sup> Even were *Coney* not applied in this case, the rule of procedure and case law preceding *Coney* must be applied in the same manner as they were in *Coney* in the instant case.

#### A. Facts of the Case.

Jury selection was held August 22, 1994 (T-380). The sidebar at which the exercise of challenges occurred in this case was reported and transcribed (T-200). The record shows that both counsel voir dired the venire. Then, both counsel were present at sidebar and individual jurors were called to the bench and questioned. Both sides exercised challenges (T-172). Mr. Caldwell was physically present in the courtroom and located at counsel table during the bench conferences.

- Nowhere is it reflected the petitioner was informed of his right to be present at the bench.
- Petitioner was not present at the bench.
- Nowhere does the trial court inquire if the petitioner's absence from the bench is voluntary.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This Court should also be aware that this issue has been raised and briefed in depth in *(Lazaro) Martinez v. State*, Case No. 85,450, and addressed at oral argument in *Boyett v. State*, Case No. 81,971.

- Nowhere in the record does petitioner state he is waiving his right to be present.
- Nowhere does the trial court certify that the petitioner's
   absence from the bench is voluntary or that petitioner
   waived his right to be present after a proper inquiry by the
   court.
- Nowhere does the trial court ask the petitioner to ratify
  the choice of jurors made by counsel, nor does petitioner
  ratify the peremptory challenges made by counsel on the
  record; nor does the trial court certify the petitioner's
  ratification of counsel's exercise of peremptory challenges.

#### B. Coney and Pre-Coney Law

The specific holding in Coney — "The defendant has a right to be physically present at the immediate site where pretrial juror challenges are exercised" — was based upon both an existing Florida rule of criminal procedure and prior case law, both of which in turn were based on both the Florida and U.S.

Constitutions. Rule 3.180(a)(4), Fla. R. Crim. P., requires that a defendant in a criminal case be present "at the beginning of the trial during the examination, challenging, impanelling, and swearing of the jury" and this Court ruled that this provision means exactly what it says. Coney, at 1013. This rule is to be strictly construed and applied, as Coney makes unequivocally clear. An accused is not present during the challenging of jurors if he or she is not at the location where the process is taking place. Francis v. State, 413 So. 2d 1175 (Fla. 1982);

Turner v. State, 530 So. 2d 45 (Fla. 1987). Thus, it is not enough that an accused be present somewhere else in the courtroom or in the courthouse when peremptory challenging of the jury is occurring. The accused must be able to hear the proceedings and to able to meaningfully participate in the process. If the accused is seated at the defense table while a whispered selection conference is being conducted at the judge's bench, he or she cannot be said to be present and meaningfully able to participate.

"The defendant has a right to be physically present at the immediate site where pretrial juror challenges are exercised."

Coney at 1013. Moreover, the Court went on to state that a waiver of the right to be present must be certified by the court to be knowing, intelligent, and voluntary after a proper inquiry. The judge in Mr. Caldwell's case made no inquiry or certification whatsoever. None of the requirements established by the Court in Coney, set forth at p. 4, were met in the lower court.

In addition to violating Rule 3.180(a)(4), the absence of the accused at this critical stage of trial also constituted a denial of due process under the state and federal constitutions because fundamental fairness might have been thwarted by his absence. Francis v. State, 413 So. 2d 1175, 1177 (Fla. 1982);

Snyder v. Massachusetts, 291 U.S. 97, 54 S.Ct. 330, 78 L.Ed. 674 (1934); Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975). Rule 3.180 is specifically designed to safeguard those constitutional rights. Thus, when the plain mandate of the rule is so clearly violated, as it was here, the constitutional rights the rule safeguards are also violated.

# (1) Only Part of Coney Appears to Be "Prospective," and Such Language Has No Effect on "Pipeline Cases" Such as This.

As argued below, the entire Coney decision should apply to Petitioner since his case was on appeal at the time Coney was decided. A fair reading of this Court's opinion in Coney indicates that the only prospective parts of Coney's holding are the requirements that the trial judge certify on the record a waiver of a defendant's right to be present at the bench and/or a ratification of counsel's action (or inaction) in the defendant's absence. However, the state and the First District Court of Appeal apparently believe that the defendant's right to be present at bench conferences where peremptory challenges are exercised is also a prospective rule. This is not so, and is refuted by this Court's reasoning unpinning its holding in Coney.

This Court said Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.180(a) meant what it says, and has always said, that a defendant has the right to be

present at the immediate location where juror challenges are being made. The court cited the rule and its previous holding in Francis v. State, 413 So. 2d 1175 (Fla. 1982), as authority for that proposition. Moreover, the state conceded in Coney that it was error under Francis because Coney not present at a bench conference where juror challenges were made and the record was silent as to waiver or ratification. See Coney, at 1013. Surely, the state would not concede error based on a rule yet to be announced. The right to be present at the bench during the actual selection process pre-existed Coney under the rule and under Francis and Turner, and the only "prospective" part must have been the requirements now placed on the trial courts that they inquire and certify waivers and ratification of the actions of counsel on the record.

## (2) State Is Estopped from Arguing Absence of Error.

Initially, the State of Florida is estopped from arguing that Petitioner's absence from the bench conference where peremptory challenges to prospective jurors were made was not error. In Coney, when faced with the same facts, the state conceded error. Id., at 1013. The state cannot now assert otherwise in this case without violating Petitioner's right to equal protection of the law. See State v. Pitts, 249 So. 2d 47,

48-50 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971) (violation of equal protection for the state to take contrary positions on the same issue in different cases). This Court clearly pointed out the state's concession of error in its opinion.<sup>2</sup> The case was then decided adversely to Coney on the sole basis of harmless error because only challenges for cause were made in Coney's absence. *Ibid*. Petitioner is asking this Court to apply the same law in his case that was applied *Coney*'s case. Equal protection under the law requires no less.

# C. <u>Coney and the Principles of Law Underlying Coney Must</u> <u>Be Applied to This "Pipeline Case"</u>

Whether or not *Coney* is a clarification of existing law or new law, it must be applied to this case. Furthermore, whether or not *Coney* itself is applied to this case, the prior law upon which the decision in *Coney* rests must be applied to this case. To do less violates state and federal constitutional principles

#### (1) Coney as a Clarification of Existing Law

Both a Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure and the due

Coney was not present at the sidebar where the initial challenges were made, and the record fails to show that he waived his presence or ratified the strikes. The State concedes this rule violation was error, but claims that it was harmless.

Coney, at 1013 (bold emphasis added).

process clauses of the state and federal constitutions provide that a criminal defendant has the right to be present during any "critical" or "essential" stage of trial. See Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.180; Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 819 n.5, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975); Francis v. State, 413 So.2d 1175, 1177 (Fla. 1982).

Although petitioner was present in the courtroom, as was Coney, he was not physically present at the sidebar.

Inferentially, the accused could no more hear what was happening at the bench than the jury could, and the jury was also present in the court-room. Thus, the accused was as effectively excluded from this critical stage of the trial as was the jury. The exclusion of the jury was proper, of course; the absence of the accused was not.

#### (a) Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.180(a)(4)

Rule 3.180(a)(4), Fla. R. Crim. P., expressly provides:

(a) Presence of Defendant. In all prosecutions for crime the defendant shall be present:

(4) At the beginning of the trial during the examination, challenging, impanelling, and swearing of the jury; . . .

#### (b) Prior Case Law

In Turner v. State, 530 So. 2d 45, 47-48, 49 (Fla. 1987), this Court stated:

We recognized in Francis v. State, 413 So. 2d 1175, 1177 (Fla. 1982), that the defendant has the constitutional right to be present at the stages of his trial where fundamental fairness might be thwarted by his absence. Snyder v. Massachusetts, 291 U.S. 97, 54 S.Ct. 330, 78 L.Ed.674 (1934). See also, Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975).

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.180(a)(4) recognizes the challenging of jurors as one of the essential stages of a criminal trial where a defendant's presence is mandated.

\* \* \*

A defendant's waiver of the right to be present at essential stages of trial must be knowing, intelligent and voluntary. Amazon v. State, 487 So. 2d 8 (Fla.), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 914, 107 S. Ct. 314, 93 L. Ed. 2d 288 (1986); Peede v. State, 474 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 477 U.S. 909, 106 S.Ct. 3286, 91 L.Ed.2d 575 (1986).

Id. Nothing in the record demonstrates that Petitioner knew that he had the right to be physically present and to meaningfully participate in this critical function during his trial.

Petitioner's involuntary absence thwarted the fundamental fairness of the proceedings. It was, in any event, a clear violation of Rule 3.180(a)(4)'s unambiguous language mandating his presence.

This Court most recently addressed the issue of the

accused's presence during challenging of the jury in  $Coney\ v.$  State, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995), holding:

As to Coney's absence from the bench conference, this Court has ruled:

[The defendant] has the constitutional right to be present at the stages of his trial where fundamental fairness might be thwarted by his absence. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.180(a)(4) recognizes the challenging of jurors as one of the essential stages of a criminal trial where a defendant's presence is mandated.

Francis v. State, 413 So. 2d 1175, 1177 (Fla. 1982)

\* \* \*

We conclude that the rule means just what it says: The defendant has a right to by physically present at the immediate site where pretrial juror challenges are exercised. See Francis.

Coney, 653 So. 2d at 1013 (Bold added). Previously, this Court has repeatedly recognized that jury selection — at least that portion of voir dire when counsel exercises peremptory challenges — is a "critical" stage of the trial, at which time a criminal defendant's fundamental right to be present has fully attached.

See e.g., Francis, 413 So.2d at 1177-78; Chandler v. State, 534 So.2d 701, 704 (Fla. 1988). Numerous decisions of both this Court and the U.S. Supreme Court have also recognized that the right to be present is one of the most "fundamental" rights accorded to criminal defendants. "The right to be present has

been called a right scarcely less important to the accused than the right to trial itself." 14A Fla. Jur. 2d, Criminal Law, \$1253, at 298 (1993) (citing state and federal cases); see also Mack v. State, 537 So.2d 109, 110 (Fla. 1989) (Grimes, J., concurring) (characterizing a criminal defendant's right to be present, along with right to counsel and right to a jury trial, as one of "those rights which go to the very heart of the adjudicatory process").

# (c) Plain Language in Coney Indicates That it Is Not New Law

In Coney, this Court indicated that it relied on the plain, unequivocal language of Rule 3.180 in reaching its result. Thus, if the rule already existed, it is NOT, and cannot be, a "new rule."

We conclude that the rule means just what it says: The defendant has a right to be physically present at the immediate site where pretrial juror challenges are exercised.

Id. at 1013 (**bold** emphasis added).

Where, as here, an appellate court's decision is based on the plain language of a statute or rule, the court does not announce a new rule. See Murray v. State, 803 P.2d 225, 227 (Nev. 1990). Furthermore, where, as here, a judicial decision is "merely interpreting the plain language of the relevant statute,"

the "rule" is not "new" and should be applied retroactively.

John Deere Harvester Works v. Indust. Comm'n, 629 N.E. 834, 836

(Ill. App. 1994). This Court's specific holding in Coney, quoted above, was not only based on Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.180, but on its previous decision in Francis. Coney's holding was not "new law," but simply explained that the Rule meant what it said. But what is "new law"?

#### (d) "New" Rule or Law Defined

The underlying legal norm — the right to be present at all critical stages of trial — precludes being absent from sidebar for jury selection as much as it does being totally absent from the courtroom during jury selection.

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