# **ORIGINAL**

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

SEP 9

CI TRIK SHOW AND OVE

15 / \_\_\_\_\_\_

GLEN MICHAEL CALDWELL,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 88,510

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

AMELIA L. BEISNER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0832413

JAMES W. ROGERS BUREAU CHIEF FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Glen Michael Caldwell, defendant in the trial court and appellant below, will be referred to herein as "petitioner." Respondent, the State of Florida, appellee below, will be referred to herein as "the State." References to the record on appeal will be by the use of the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number(s). References to the three-volume transcript of proceedings will be by the use of the symbol "T" followed by the appropriate volume and page number(s), e.g., (T I 33).

In preparing this brief, the undersigned has adopted, with few alterations, the argument presented by Assistant Attorney General Carolyn J. Mosley in the State's brief in Bowick v. State, No. 87,826 (Fla.), which concerns the same certified question at issue in this case. The identical issue is also currently pending before this Court in, among others, the following cases:

Bruce H. Bell v. State, No. 87,716
Eric Scott Branch v. State, No. 87,717
Reginald Donald Gainer v. State, No. 87,720
Maurice M. Horn v. State, No. 87,789
Dino Howard v. State, No. 87,856
Brian David Lee v. State, No. 87,715
Alfredco Lett v. State, No. 87,541
Rickie Renoried Mathis v. State, No. 88,517
Mary Antonia Page v. State, No. 88,535

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts petitioner's statement of the case and facts as being generally supported by the record.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Because the principle of prospective application is well understood, and because this Court clearly stated in Coney v.

State, infra, that its holding there was to applied only prospectively, this Court should decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to address the certified question in this case concerning the application of Coney to so-called "pipeline" cases. Should this Court exercise its discretion to address the certified question, the Court should answer the certified question in the negative and clarify Coney by expressly holding that a defendant must object in the trial court to his or her absence from sidebar conferences at which the parties' attorneys announce their jury challenges, and that a defendant may not raise the Coney issue for the first time on appeal.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE/CERTIFIED OUESTION

DOES THE DECISION IN CONEY V. STATE, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla.), cert. denied, U.S. , 116 S.Ct. 315, 133 L.Ed. 2d 218 (1995), APPLY TO "PIPELINE CASES," THAT IS, THOSE OF SIMILARLY SITUATED DEFENDANTS WHOSE CASES WERE PENDING ON DIRECT APPEAL OR OTHERWISE NOT YET FINAL WHEN THE OPINION WAS RELEASED? (Restated from Petitioner's Brief)

This Court has discretion to decide whether to address questions certified by the district courts to be of great public importance. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; State v. Burgess, 326 So. 2d 441 (Fla. 1976); Stein v. Darby, 134 So. 2d 232 (Fla. 1961). For the following reasons, the State respectfully asks this Court to decline to review the certified question in the case at bar.

In Jones v. State, 569 So. 2d 1234, 1237 (Fla. 1990), this Court held that the defendant's absence from sidebar conferences where peremptory strikes were announced was not error because the defendant was given the opportunity to confer with counsel at defense table prior to the conferences. Coney v. State, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995), which the Court decided some four years later, changed the law. It held that the defendant has a right under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.180 to stand at the bench with counsel,

and not merely sit at defense table, when peremptory challenges are announced. Indeed, Justice Overton expressly recognized Coney's departure from previous, well-established judicial practice:

Judges have believed for nearly fifteen years that exercising challenges at the bench, outside the hearing of the jury while the defendant was at counsel table, was proper because the defendant was present in the courtroom.

Id. at 1016 (Overton, J., concurring in result only). Further, the fact that <u>Coney</u> constituted a change in the law, and a departure from the previous practice, is apparent from the sheer number of cases litigating the <u>Coney</u> issue.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Petitioner nevertheless claims that Coney did not constitute a change in the law, but that it instead "clarified" this Court's previous decisions on the issue by requiring trial courts to "inquire and certify waivers and ratification of the actions of counsel on the record." Petitioner's initial brief at Petitioner asserts that defendants always had the right to be present at the bench during jury selection, and that the only part of the Coney decision that is "new" and "prospective" is the aforementioned waiver certification requirement. Petitioner's initial brief at 12. However, in the two cases on which petitioner relies, the defendant was not even present in the same room with the judge and the lawyers when counsel announced their strikes. <u>See Francis v. State</u>, 413 So. 2d 1175 (Fla. 1982) (defendant was in the bathroom part of the time while prospective jurors were questioned in the courtroom, and when the judge and counsel retired to the jury room to exercise peremptory strikes, the defendant was left in the courtroom); and Turner v. State, 530 So. 2d 45, 47 (Fla. 1987) (defendant was not present in the judge's chambers when jurors were challenged). Francis and

This Court held that the new rule it announced in Coney was "prospective only." Coney, 653 So. 2d at 1013. There is nothing ambiguous about this language, or about the prospectivity principle in general. As this Court has repeatedly held, prospective decisions do not apply to cases tried before the new decision was announced, regardless of whether such cases are still pending on appeal. See, e.g., Fenelon v. State, 594 So. 2d 292, 293 and 295 (Fla. 1992) ("We agree with the State that giving the flight instruction, even if erroneous, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt . . .," and "we approve the result below although we direct that henceforth the jury instruction on flight shall not be given"); Taylor v. State, 630 So. 2d 1038, 1042 (Fla. 1994) ("This Court intended that the holding in Fenelon be applied prospectively only, and, since Taylor was tried before our decision in Fenelon was issued, the trial court did not err given the circumstances of this case."); Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1000, 1007 n.4 (Fla. 1994) (citations omitted) ("We recognize that this holding [that a prior decision is to have 'prospective effect only'] may seem contrary to a portion of

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>Turner</u> therefore do <u>not</u> stand for the proposition that a defendant has a "right" to be present at the bench when the parties exercise their peremptory challenges, as petitioner suggests.

Smith v. State, 598 So. 2d 1063, 1066 (Fla. 1992), which can be read to mean that any new rule of law announced by this Court always must be given retrospective application. However, such a reading would be inconsistent with a number of intervening cases. We read <u>Smith</u> to mean that new points of law established by this Court shall be deemed retrospective with respect to all non-final cases unless this Court says otherwise."); and Domberg v. State, 661 So. 2d 285, 287 (Fla. 1995) (in Wuornos, Smith was "read to mean that new points of law established by this Court shall be deemed retrospective with respect to all non-final cases unless this Court says otherwise"). Thus, this Court's statement in Coney that the decision in that case is to be applied only prospectively means, simply and clearly, that the decision is to be applied only to those cases tried after the decision in Coney was issued.

Petitioner now claims that even though he was tried and convicted **before** this Court issued its <u>Coney</u> decision, this Court should apply <u>Coney</u> to his case and grant him a new trial because he was not present at the bench when counsel announced their peremptory challenges. To support this claim, petitioner states that "[e] qual protection under the law . . . demands that Petitioner be granted the same relief as was granted Coney."

Petitioner's initial brief at 4. However, the critical fact petitioner overlooks is that the defendant in Coney was not given the benefit of the new rule the Court announced in that case. The simple truth is that Coney was not released from custody, he was not granted a new trial, and neither his conviction nor his sentence was reduced as a result of his absence from the sidebar conference when the parties exercised their peremptory challenges. Thus, because the new rule announced in Coney was not even applied to Coney, there clearly is no rational basis for applying that new rule to petitioner, thereby affording him greater relief than Coney himself received. In any event, because this Court's direction in Coney that the decision there is to be applied prospectively is unambiguous, there is no need for this Court to accept jurisdiction to answer the certified question in this case concerning that prospective application.

Should this Court exercise its discretion to address the certified question, the State asks that the Court answer the question in the negative and clarify the rule it announced in Coney. The law should be made clear that if a defendant wishes to stand at the bench with the lawyers when they announce their peremptory strikes, the burden is on the defendant to make his or her request known to the judge. A defendant who remains silent

waives the right to be present at bench conferences, and cannot be heard to complain for the first time on appeal about his or her absence from the sidebar conference.

This Court recently applied the contemporaneous objection rule to violations of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.180. In Gibson v. State, 661 So. 2d 288 (Fla. 1995), decided after Coney, the defendant argued that the trial court violated his right to be present with counsel during a bench conference when the parties conducted their jury challenges, and that it further violated his right to the assistance of counsel when the court denied defense counsel's request to consult with the defendant before exercising peremptory challenges. However, this Court rejected Gibson's argument as follows:

In Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982), we said that, "in order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below." In this case, we find that Gibson's lawyer did not raise the issue that is now being asserted on appeal. If counsel wanted to consult with his client over which jurors to exclude and to admit, he did not convey this to the trial court. On the record, he asked for an afternoon recess for the general purpose of meeting with his client. Further, there is no indication in this record that Gibson was prevented or limited in any way from consulting with his counsel concerning the exercise of juror challenges. On this record, no objection to the court's procedure was ever made. In short, Gibson has demonstrated neither error nor prejudice on the record before this Court.

Id. at 290-291 (emphasis added, citation omitted). The Court in Gibson thus implied that a defendant must object to his or her absence from any bench conference at which the parties exercise their jury challenges in order to preserve the Coney issue for appellate review. See also Hardwick v. Dugger, 648 So. 2d 100, 105 (Fla. 1994) (defendant's failure to participate in bench conferences held during trial was not fundamental error); Shriner v. State, 452 So. 2d 929, 930 (Fla. 1984) (defendant's absence from "various bench conferences" not fundamental error). The State now asks this Court to clarify Coney by expressly stating that a defendant may not raise the Coney issue for the first time on appeal.

The requirement of a contemporaneous objection to preserve the Coney issue is compatible with the approach taken by the federal courts. Under Fed. R. Crim. P. 43, which is comparable to Rule 3.180, a defendant need not be warned of the right to be present, and the defendant waives that right unless he or she expressly invokes it. See Fed. R. Crim. P. 43(b)(1) and (3); and United States v. Gagnon, 470 U.S. 522, 527-530, 105 S.Ct. 1482, 84 L.Ed. 2d 486 (1985) (right waived where defendant did not ask

to be present during in camera discussion among judge, juror, and one of the defense lawyers). Moreover, contrary to petitioner's argument here, a defendant's absence from sidebar conferences where the parties announce their peremptory challenges does not offend the constitution. See, e.g., United States v. Gayles, 1 F.3d 735, 738 (8th Cir. 1993) (defendant was absent from courtroom when attorney announced strikes over the lunch break, but he was present when clerk gave strikes effect by reading off list of selected jurors); United States v. McCoy, 8 F.3d 495, 496-497 (7th Cir. 1993) (defendant was not present at sidebar conference where "the attorneys discussed their peremptory challenges, only one of which raised any concern"); United States v. Bascaro, 742 F.2d 1335, 1349-1350 (11th Cir. 1984) (defendants in courtroom entire time but lawyers left courtroom briefly to confer collectively to decide on peremptory strikes). Again, this Court should clarify <a>Coney</a> to require a contemporaneous objection before a defendant may argue on appeal that he or she was improperly excluded from a sidebar conference during which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>See Petitioner's initial brief at 10 (emphasis added, citations omitted) ("[T]he absence of the accused at this critical stage of trial also constituted a denial of due process under the state and federal constitutions because fundamental fairness might have been thwarted by his absence.")

the parties' lawyers announced their peremptory challenges; and because petitioner in the case at bar wholly failed to object to his absence from the bench conference, his <u>Coney</u> claim was not cognizable on direct appeal before the First District, and it is not cognizable in this Court.

Finally, petitioner briefly asserts that the State is "estopped" from presenting any argument in this case on the Coney issue because the assistant attorney general who represented the State in Coney conceded that error occurred when Coney was absent from the bench conference where the parties exercised their jury challenges. See Coney v. State, 653 So. 2d at 1013 ("The State concedes that this rule violation was error, but claims that it was harmless."). However, contrary to petitioner's claim, the State is not "estopped" from advancing inconsistent arguments on the law in different cases. There are three estoppel doctrines: mutual collateral, nonmutual collateral, and judicial. Judicial estoppel does not apply here because that doctrine is limited to a party's positions on the "facts." Rand G. Boyers, Comment, Precluding Inconsistent Statements: The Doctrine of Judicial Estoppel, 80 Nw. U. L. Rev. 1244, 1262 (1986). Further, mutual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>See Petitioner's initial brief at 12-13.

collateral estoppel does not apply here because that doctrine requires that the parties be the same; that is, the defendant must be the same in both proceedings. Ashe v. Swenson, 397 U.S. 436, 443,90 S.Ct. 1189, 25 L.Ed. 2d 469 (1970). Moreover, nonmutual (different parties, as here) collateral estoppel does not extend to the government. United States v. Mendoza, 464 U.S. 154, 104 S.Ct. 568, 78 L.Ed. 2d 379 (1984); Standefer v. United States, 447 U.S. 10, 100 S.Ct. 1999, 64 L.Ed. 2d 689 (1980); Nichols v. Scott, 69 F.3d 1255, 1268-1274 (5th Cir. 1995). Finally, pure questions of law, such as the one at issue here (i.e., what does a rule of procedure mean), arising in unrelated cases are excepted from the collateral estoppel doctrine.

Petitioner relies on <u>State v. Pitts</u>, 249 So. 2d 47 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971), for the proposition that the Equal Protection Clause prohibits the State from taking different positions on a legal issue. However, petitioner misreads that case. A party's "confession of error," as occurred in <u>Pitts</u> and <u>Coney</u>, is nothing more than the party's opinion on the law. That opinion does not bind the Court, <u>State v. Lozano</u>, 616 So. 2d 73, 75 n.4 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993); <u>L.S. v. State</u>, 547 So. 2d 1032 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), for the obvious reason that only the Court has the power to say what

the law means. State v. Smith, 547 So. 2d 613, 616 (Fla. 1989). It is only when the Court adopts the opinion of a party as its own that it becomes the law, and it is at this point that it must be applied equally to everyone. This is what was of concern to the Pitts court.

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